PREFACE

The object of this book is to provide a comprehensive account of public order law. The emphasis is upon public order law in the context of protest, but not to the exclusion of other relevant aspects of the subject.

The law of public order is often made to reflect its time. The Public Order Act 1936 was born out of the fascist marches of the 1930s. The Public Order Act 1986, still the bedrock of the modern law, came after the Southall riots of 1979 and the Brixton disorders of 1981, events fuelled by a blend of race and inner city discontent. More recently the Serious Organised Crime and Police Act 2005 tried, but failed, to bring an end to what some MPs called 'unsightly' camps of protestors, outside the home of democracy in Parliament Square.

Just as protest itself has moved on from the miners' strike and secondary picketing at factories in the 1970s and 1980s to environmental issues such as GM crops; nuclear power stations; and airport runways; protest against war and conflict has always brought people to the streets. Once it was the Vietnam war, now it is Iran, Afghanistan, and Palestine, Burma, and Sri Lanka, to name but a few. Protest may often seem a symbol of somebody else's problems far away: a lone protestor and a tank in Fiananmen Square; monks in Tibet; students in Tehran; even the refusal of Rosa Paris to give up her seat on the bus in Montgomery, Alabama. But sometimes it happens in your own backyard, often a local issue of burning concern—an ugly skyscraper; a mobile telephone cell mast; a village bypass. Then you hear, in Surrey or Cheshire, 'I never thought I'd join the great unwashed.' In short, protest may be international or local, on big issues or small. But as long as it is peaceful, it forms an important role, described by a senior judge as 'the lifeblood of democracy'.¹

It is not always peaceful, though. Disorder has taken place not just in London, but in Southall and Brixton, and in Trafalgar Square against the poll tax in 1990. In Bradford in 2001 race protest became violent and widespread, and was prosecuted as riot, with heavy deterrent sentences. There has been police violence too. It may be rare but it is not new. It is always shocking. For example, in 1979 Blair Peach, a teacher, was killed by still unidentified police officers on his way home from a demonstration in Southall. Exactly thirty years later in 2009 a newspaper seller, not a protestor, was pushed over and baton struck by a police officer. He was on his way home too, trying to avoid police no-go zones to control protests at the G20 summit in London.² Minutes later he collapsed and later died, apparently of a heart attack.

¹ Lord Steyn in R v Home Secretary of State, ex p Simms [2000] 2 AC 115, 126.

² See <http://www.guardian.co.uk> video footage.

But despite some violence and discontent, and the ever present threat of public terrorism, the theme of liberty still runs strong and deep. And for good reason. Whatever view you hold about the purpose or effect of demonstrating, public protest is at the heart of any reasonably free and open democracy. It is the outward and visible sign of serious complaint, usually by those who have no more power than the right to vote every few years. What I wrote twenty years ago still holds good today: 'The right to peaceful protest is a traditional and legitimate expression of a point of view. Peaceful protest is public, open and visible. It is designed to inform, persuade and cajole. It may be a nuisance; it may even be intended to be. It is often noisy and inconvenient. But it is a legitimate form of public expression, protected by the European Convention on Human Rights.' That Convention has now become embodied in the Human Rights Act 1998.

Freedom of expression in public has long been enshrined in English law—not in statute but by statements of the judges. Lord Denning said in 1976 in *Hubbard v Pitt* that 'The right to demonstrate and the right to protest on matters of public concern . . . are rights which it is in the public interest that individuals should possess; and, indeed, that they should exercise without impediment so long as no wrongful act is done.'³ He referred to 'the undoubted right of Englishmen' to meet together, to go in procession, to demonstrate, and to protest on matters of public concern.⁴ Lord Justice Sedley stated in *Redmond-Bate v DPP*⁵ that 'Free speech includes not only the inoffensive but the irrita mg, the contentious, the eccentric, the heretical, the unwelcome and the provocative provided it does not tend to provoke violence. Freedom only to speak inoffensively is not worth having. What Speakers' Corner (where the law applies as fully as anywhere else) demonstrates is the tolerance which is both extended by the law to opinion of every kint and expected by the law in the conduct of those who disagree, even strongly, with what they hear.'

But the common law cases started from a negative standpoint. Protest was lawful only when it infringed no other law. Since then the Human Rights Act 1998 has incorporated into English law the European Convention on Human Rights. And freedom of expression and freedom of assembly, Articles 10 and 11 of the Convention, have taken their place in the front row. They are positive rights, and although they are not absolute rights, any violation of them must be justified by the State. Decisions of the European Court of Human Rights have frequently repeated the value of these rights. For example in *Handyside* $v UK^{6}$ the Court recognized that 'Freedom of expression constitutes one of the essential foundations of . . . a [democratic] society, one of the basic conditions for its progress and for the development of every man.' The State now has a positive duty to safeguard Article 10 and 11 rights. While Convention rights are not 'a trump card', the courts are obliged to ensure that the exercise of them is 'practical and effective', not merely 'theoretical and illusory'.⁷

³ [1976] QB 142, 178.

⁴ See also Kent v Metropolitan Police Commissioner, The Times, 15 May 1981.

⁵ [2000] HRLR 249; [1999] EWHC Admin 732.

⁶ (1976) 1 EHRR 737, para 49.

⁷ Artico v Italy (1981) 3 EHRR 1, para 33.

This is a big change: from a negative standpoint to a positive assertion of rights. The change means that any interference with the right of expression or assembly by way of protest must be 'prescribed by law', justified by the State, and be 'proportionate' in terms of restriction. Even protest causing disruption may be tolerated, and therefore not prosecuted; so long as the disruption is peaceful; does not put the safety of the public at risk; is of modest duration; and does not interfere substantially with the rights of others.⁸ The new approach is illustrated by a decision about Parliament Square. Westminster City Council tried to remove by way of injunction Brian Haw's encampment there as an obstruction of the highway. The finding against the Council included the 'significant consideration' that Haw was exercising his right to freedom of expression on a political issue, and directly in front of Parliament which he wished to influence over its policy towards Iraq.⁹

But there have been many other developments in the law of public order in recent times. Since I wrote *Public Order Law* in 1987, shortly after the 1986 Act came into force, much has changed. The main public order offences have remained the same both in the Act and elsewhere. Riot, violent disorder, and affray in the 1986 Act and lesser offences elsewhere such as obstruction of the highway and obstructing a police officer in the execution of his duty are still widely used, alongside old common law breach of the peace powers.

But a remarkable number of new measures have been created or approved. *Justice* has described them as 'a bewildering array of [overlapping] powers and offences', decreasing the foreseeability and predictability of the law. They include 'kettling'. The House of Lords decided in *Austin v Metropolitan Police Commissioner*⁴⁰ that the police could 'in very exceptional circumstances' cordon off a group of profestors for hours on end, without food, drink, or toilets, in order to prevent an immignent breach of the peace.

Other offences and powers not designed to inhibit protest have been used by the police: for example, dispersal under the Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 (ss 30–6), and the use of the Protection from Harassment Act 1297, originally designed to catch stalkers. The Human Rights Joint Committee of the House of Commons has recommended the repeal of the 'insulting words' element of the offence of harassment, alarm, or distress, contrary to s 5 of the Public Order Act 1986, which has been used inappropriately, for example against a protestor with a sign, 'Scientology is not a religion, it is a dangerous cult' and a student in Oxford who called a police horse 'gay'. There are new powers under the Police Reform Act 2002 for Police Community Support Officers and new powers to stop vehicles (s 59). Trespassers (and unauthorized campers) may now be prosecuted in a number of specific circumstances (Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994, ss 61, 68, 69, 77; Serious Organised Crime and Police Act 2005, s 128).

And terrorism has brought its cost. Five Acts of Parliament dealing with terrorism have been passed this last decade alone. Within them there are controversial measures affecting everyday activity, which are used at demonstrations against protestors and journalists. These include wide stop and search powers without the need for the police to have any

⁸ Although there is some conflict of European authority: see Ch 10.

⁹ Westminster City Council v Haw [2002] EWHC 2073, QB, Gray J, see 3.122 et seq and 4.46.

¹⁰ [2009] 1 AC 564.

reasonable suspicion (Terrorism Act 2000, ss 44–47), for example against a protestor and a journalist outside an arms fair at the Excel Centre in Docklands.¹¹ These sections also give further powers to stop vehicles. There are powers which are perceived to criminalize photographing and filming of police officers (Counter-Terrorism Act 2008, s 76). At the same time the police have been criticized for collecting their own data on individuals who have acted lawfully.¹²

The 'designated area' provisions are designed to curb protests in Parliament Square and opposite Downing Street by requiring at least twenty-four hours' notice (Serious Organised Crime and Police Act 2005, ss 132–8). Gordon Brown's promise in 2007 to repeal them remains unfulfilled. When the Home Office was asked to state what alternative laws were available should the Parliament Square powers be repealed, it itemized twenty-two separate available powers and offences without it being 'an exhaustive list'.

This may all be a far cry from the sweeping powers given to local police in Zimbabwe to ban political rallies and prosecute for criticizing the president (Public Order and Security Act 2002, ss 16, 26, and 27). But there is a trend, driven by political will, and reflected in other areas of the criminal law, to keep making more law without codification or apparent thought for the adequacy of existing powers. With this backdrop of increasing laws and perhaps increasing uncertainty as to what the law exactly is we have ventured to guide the lawyer, student, and citizen through the maze. If the emphasis lies inevitably with the criminal law and police powers, civil law aspects are not ignored.

I would like to thank the team of authors for their hard work and dedication to this project. Special thanks must go to Faye Judges who as publishing editor has born the brunt of tardy text, along with Emma Barber at OUP. It has been a pleasure to work with them. Thanks also to Anna Edmundson, Alison Pickup, Gemma Hobcraft, Sarah Hemmingway, David Wood, and Bridget Palmer for their valued legal research.

The law is stated, with best endeavours at accuracy, as at 15 January 2010. At this time s 290(2) of the Criminal Justice Act 2003, which will extend the power of magistrates to sentence for a single offence which carries imprisonment from six months to fifty-one weeks, is not yet a force. Nor are various provisions of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 which received Royal Assent on 12 November 2009.

PETER THORNTON Central Criminal Court Old Bailey 15 January 2010

¹¹ The *Gillan* case [2006] 2 AC 307, and despite police guidance that the power 'must never be used as a public order tactic' (National Policing Improvement Agency). Cf., however, the decision of the European Court of Human Rights, at 6.87 et seq.

¹² For the limits on collection and storage, see *Wood v Metropolitan Police Commissioner* in the Court of Appeal, at 10.48 et seq.

DETAILED CONTENTS

Preface	v
Table of Cases	XXV
Table of Statutes	xlvii
Table of Secondary Legislation	lxii
Table of International Legislation	lxiv

1. The Public Order Act 1986: Offences

A.	Introduction	1.01
B.	Riot: Public Order Act 1986, s 1	1.05
	Historical development	1.05
	The definition of riot under the Public Order Act 1986, s 1	1.15
	Jurisdiction	1.16
	Riot: Public Order Act 1986, s 1 Historical development The definition of riot under the Public Order Act 1986, s 1 Jurisdiction Essential elements of the offence Twelve or more persons Present together Using or threatening unlawful violence For a common purpose	1.19
	Twelve or more persons	1.20
	Present together	1.22
	Using or threatening unlawful violence	1.25
	For a common purpose	1.32
	A person of reasonable firmness present at the scene	1.36
	Mental element (mens rea)	1.37
	Intoxicated rioters	1.42
	Sentencing	1.46
	Compensation for Riot Damage	1.53
C.	Violent Disorder: Public Order Act 1986, s 2	1.56
	Historical development	1.56
	The definition of viclent disorder under the Public Order Act 1986, s 2	1.59
	Jurisdiction	1.62
	Essential elements of the offence	1.63
	Three or more persons present together	1.65
	Using or threatening unlawful violence	1.71
	Cumulative effect	1.74
	Person of reasonable firmness present at the scene	1.76
	Mental element (mens rea)	1.78
	Alternative verdicts	1.80
	Sentencing	1.82
D.	Affray: Public Order Act 1986, s 3	1.89
	Historical development	1.89
	The definition of affray under the Public Order Act 1986, s 3	1.93
	Jurisdiction	1.95
	Essential elements of the offence	1.96
	Uses or threatens	1.98

	Unlawful violence Towards another A person of reasonable firmness present at the scene Mental element <i>(mens rea)</i> Cumulative effect Public or private place Alternative verdicts Sentencing	1.103 1.104 1.108 1.119 1.121 1.122 1.123 1.124
H E Ji	Fear or Provocation of Violence: Public Order Act 1986, s 4 Historical development Definition under the Public Order Act 1986, s 4 urisdiction Essential elements of the offence Uses towards another Threatening, abusive, or insulting Distribute or display Mental element (<i>mens rea</i>) Public or private place	1.128 1.128 1.133 1.135 1.136 1.137 1.143 1.150 1.154 1.166
H E Ji	Mental element (<i>mens rea</i>) Public or private place Harassment, Alarm, or Distress: s 5 Historical development Definition under the Public Order Act 1986, s 5 urisdiction Essential elements of the offence Threatening, abusive, or insulting words or behaviour Disorderly behaviour Within the sight or hearing Harassment, alarm, or distress Mental element (<i>mens rea</i>) Public or private place Specific defences Sentencing	$\begin{array}{c} 1.171\\ 1.171\\ 1.174\\ 1.177\\ 1.178\\ 1.180\\ 1.181\\ 1.184\\ 1.186\\ 1.191\\ 1.193\\ 1.195\\ 1.203\end{array}$
H L Ji P	ntentional Harassment, Alarm, or Distress: Public Order Act 1986, s 4A Historical development Definition under the Public Order Act 1986, s 4A urisdiction Proportionality Essential elements of the offence Causation Mental element (<i>mens rea</i>) Intoxication Public or private Special defences Police powers Sentencing	1.206 1.207 1.208 1.209 1.210 1.211 1.214 1.217 1.218 1.220 1.224 1.227

2. Other Public Order Offences

A. Overview

2.01

Detailed	Contents

B. Assault on or Obstruction of a Constable in the Execution of his Duty	2.02
Assaulting a constable in the execution of his duty	2.03
Elements of the offence	2.04
Constable	2.05
Execution of duty	2.06
Self-defence	2.07
Mistaken self-defence	2.10
Sentencing	2.11
Resisting or wilfully obstructing a constable	2.12
Obstructs	2.13 2.18
Wilfully Constable	2.18
	2.20
Execution of his duty What takes an officer outside of his duty?	2.21
C. Prohibition of Political Uniforms	2.31
	2.37
D. Prohibition of Quasi-Military Organizations	2.42
Interpretation	2.44
Usurpation Contraction	2.45
Reasonable apprehension Procedure	2.40
Defence	2.47
Powers of the High Court	2.40
E. Bomb Hoaxes Sentencing	2.51 2.52
	2.52
F. Racial and Religious Hatred Stirring up racial and religious hatred (or or grounds of sexual orientation)	2.50
Racial hatred	2.60
Religious hatred	2.60
Actus reus	2.65
Mens rea	2.66
Words, behaviour, vritten material stirring up racial and religious hatred	
(s 18 racial hat red/s 29B religious hatred)	2.67
Publishing or distributing written material stirring up racial or religious hatred	2.69
Public performance of a play stirring up racial or religious hatred	2.73
Distributing, showing, or playing a recording stirring up racial or	
religious hatred	2.75
Broadcasting a programme stirring up racial or religious hatred	2.78
Possession of written material or recording stirring up racial or religious hatred	2.80
Defences	2.82
Liability of corporations	2.83
Sentence	2.84
Forfeiture	2.87
Racially or religiously aggravated offences	2.88
The Test (s 28)	2.89
Racial or religious groups	2.90
Hostility Sentencing	2.93 2.97
Jentenenig	2.9/

G. Public Nuisance	2.99
Definition	2.101
Public nuisance vs private nuisance	2.101
Mens rea	2.108
Vicarious liability	2.109
Defences	2.110
Sentence	2.111
H. Criminal Damage	2.112
Criminal damage	2.113
Aggravated criminal damage; arson; threats to damage property,	
possession with intent to destroy or damage property	2.120
I. Animal Research Facilities	2.125
The legislative intent	2.129
Interegretative internet Interference in contractual relations so as to harm animal research organization	2.120
	2.131
Intimidation of persons connected with animal research organization	2.132
Criticism of the legislation	
Sentence R v Diane Jamieson R v Joseph Harris R v Suzanne Jaggers AG's Reference (No 113 of 2007)	2.136
R v Diane Jamieson	2.140
R v Joseph Harris	2.141
R v Suzanne Jaggers	2.142
5 . 5	2.143
R v Susanne Taylor; R v Theresa Portwine; R v Mark Taylor	2.144
R v Greg Avery; R v Natasha Avery; R v Heather Nicholson;	
R v Daniel Wadham; R v Gerrah Selby, and R v Daniel Amos	2.145
J. Contamination or Interfering with Goods	2.146
Contamination of or interference with goods	2.147
Threatening to contaminate or interfere with goods, or claiming to have done so	2.149
Possession of articles with a view to contaminating or interfering in goods	2.151
Sentence	2.152
K. Intimidation, including Watching and Besetting	2.154
Origin of the offence	2.155
The offen e	2.158
Elements of the offence	2.159
With a view to compelling any other person	2.159
Wrongfully and without legal authority	2.161
Intimidates	2.162
Persistently follows	2.163
Hiding tools	2.164
Watching or besetting	2.165
Penalties	2.167
L. Drunk and Disorderly	2.168
Drunk and disorderly	2.170
Drunk in a public place	2.173
Drunk and disorderly person failing to leave	2.175
Alcohol consumption in a designated place	2.176

N. Taking a Photograph of a Police Officer 2.183 3. Processions, Assemblies, and Meetings 3.01 A. Overview 3.01 Aright to assemble or process? 3.02 B. Processions 3.07 Procession 3.08 Public place 3.10 Advance notice of processions (s 11) 3.12 Background 3.13 Advance notice provision (s 11(1)) 3.15 Exception 1: 'commonly or customarily held' (s 11(2)) 3.16 Deficition 2: 'not reasonably practicable' (s 11(1)) 3.20 Processions without a determined route 3.21 Nature and delivery of notice to the police 3.22 Failure to comply prosecution 3.24 Conditions imposed on public processions (s 12) 3.28 Background 3.29 Imposing conditions 3.31 Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution 3.37 Banning processions (s 13) 3.38 Procedure outside London 3.40 Procedure outside London 3.40 Police cortrols over outher assemblies (s 14) 3.53 Definition of 'public assemblies 3.71 </th <th>M. Football Related Disorder</th> <th>2.178</th>	M. Football Related Disorder	2.178
A. Overview 3.01 A right to assemble or process? 3.02 B. Processions 3.07 Procession 3.08 Public place 3.10 Advance notice of processions (s 11) 3.12 Background 3.13 Advance notice of processions (s 11(1)) 3.15 Exception 1: 'commonly or customarily held' (s 11(2)) 3.16 Exception 1: 'not reasonably practicable' (s 11(1)) 3.20 Processions without a determined route 3.21 Nature and delivery of notice to the police 3.22 Failure to comply: prosecution 3.24 Conditions imposed on public processions (s 12) 3.28 Background 3.31 Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution 3.37 Bauning processions (s 13) 3.38 Procedure outside London 3.40 Procedure outside London 3.40 Procedure outside London 3.41 Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution 3.46 Judicial review 3.53 Definition of public assemblity 3.56 No advance notice requirement 3.64	N. Taking a Photograph of a Police Officer	2.183
A right to assemble or process?3.02B. Processions3.07Procession3.08Public place3.10Advance notice of processions (s 11)3.12Background3.13Advance notice provision (s 11(1))3.15Exception 1: commonly or customarily held' (s 11(2))3.16Exception 2: not reasonably practicable' (s 11(1))3.20Processions without a determined route3.21Nature and delivery of notice to the police3.22Failure to comply: prosecution3.24Conditions imposed on public processions (s 12)3.28Background3.29Imposing conditions3.31Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.37Banning processions (s 13)3.38Procedure outside London3.40Procedure outside London3.42Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.53Definition of 'public assemblie'3.56No advance notice requirement3.66Conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.84Artempts to break up public meetings3.88Election meetings3.88Election meetings3.89Police powers to attend meetings3.89Police powers to attend meetings3.89Police powers to attend meetings3.89Police powers to attend meetings3.89Flexingsi atten Square3.94	3. Processions, Assemblies, and Meetings	
B. Procession 3.07 Procession 3.08 Public place 3.10 Advance notice of processions (s 11) 3.12 Background 3.13 Advance notice provision (s 11(1)) 3.15 Exception 1: 'commonly or customarily held' (s 11(2)) 3.16 Exception 2: 'not reasonably practicable' (s 11(1)) 3.20 Processions without a determined route 3.21 Nature and delivery of notice to the police 3.22 Failure to comply: prosecution 3.24 Conditions imposed on public processions (s 12) 3.28 Background 3.29 Imposing conditions 3.31 Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution 3.37 Banning processions (s 13) 3.38 Procedure outside London 3.40 Procedure outside London 3.42 Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution 3.53 Definition of 'public assemblies (s 14) 3.66 Judicial review 3.53 Definition of public assemblies (s 14) 3.65 Imposing conditions 3.71 Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution 3.73	A. Overview	3.01
Procession3.08Public place3.10Advance notice of processions (s 11)3.12Background3.13Advance notice provision (s 11(1))3.15Exception 1: 'commonly or customarily held' (s 11(2))3.16Exception 2: 'not reasonably practicable' (s 11(1))3.20Processions without a determined route3.21Nature and delivery of notice to the police3.22Failure to comply: prosecution3.24Conditions imposed on public processions (s 12)3.28Background3.37Banning processions (s 13)3.38Procedure outside London3.40Procedure outside London3.40Procedure outside London3.47C. Assemblies3.53Definition of public assemblies3.53Definition of public assemblies (s 14)3.66Conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.71Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.73Definition of public assemblies (s 14)3.66Conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73D. Meetings3.88Control of public meeting3.80Control of public meetings3.81Profinition of public meetings3.81Profinition of public meetings3.88Election meetings3.88 </td <td>A right to assemble or process?</td> <td>3.02</td>	A right to assemble or process?	3.02
Procession3.08Public place3.10Advance notice of processions (s 11)3.12Background3.13Advance notice provision (s 11(1))3.15Exception 1: 'commonly or customarily held' (s 11(2))3.16Exception 2: 'not reasonably practicable' (s 11(1))3.20Processions without a determined route3.21Nature and delivery of notice to the police3.22Failure to comply: prosecution3.24Conditions imposed on public processions (s 12)3.28Background3.37Banning processions (s 13)3.38Procedure outside London3.40Procedure outside London3.40Procedure outside London3.47C. Assemblies3.53Definition of public assemblies3.53Definition of public assemblies (s 14)3.66Conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.71Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.73Definition of public assemblies (s 14)3.66Conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73D. Meetings3.88Control of public meeting3.80Control of public meetings3.81Profinition of public meetings3.81Profinition of public meetings3.88Election meetings3.88 </td <td>B Processions</td> <td>3.07</td>	B Processions	3.07
Public place3.10Advance notice of processions (s 11)3.12Background3.13Advance notice provision (s 11(1))3.15Exception 1: 'commonly or customarily held' (s 11(2))3.16Exception 2: 'not reasonably practicable' (s 11(1))3.20Processions without a determined route3.21Nature and delivery of notice to the police3.22Failure to comply: prosecution3.24Conditions imposed on public processions (s 12)3.28Background3.29Imposing conditions3.31Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.37Banning processions (s 13)3.38Procedure outside London3.40Procedure in London3.42Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.43Judicial review3.47C. Assemblies3.53Definition of 'public assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions:3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies (s 14)3.66Conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.88Control of public meeting3.80Control of public meeting3.80Control of public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.89Election		
Advance notice of processions (s 11)3.12Background3.13Advance notice provision (s 11(1))3.15Exception 1: 'commonly or customarily held' (s 11(2))3.16Exception 2: 'not reasonably practicable' (s 11(1))3.20Processions without a determined route3.21Nature and delivery of notice to the police3.22Failure to comply: prosecution3.24Conditions imposed on public processions (s 12)3.28Background3.29Imposing conditions3.31Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.37Banning processions (s 13)3.38Procedure outside London3.40Procedure in London3.47C. Assemblies3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.66Conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.71Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assemblies (s 14)3.65No advance notice requirement3.66Conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.81Conditions3.80Control of public meetings3.81Proceure to break up public meetings3.82Police powers to attend meetings3.80Cont		
Background3.13Advance notice provision (\$ 11(1))3.15Exception 1: 'commonly or customarily held' (\$ 11(2))3.16Exception 2: 'not reasonably practicable' (\$ 11(1))3.20Processions without a determined route3.21Nature and delivery of notice to the police3.22Failure to comply: prosecution3.24Conditions imposed on public processions (\$ 12)3.28Background3.29Imposing conditions3.31Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.37Banning processions (\$ 13)3.38Procedure outside London3.40Procedure in London3.42Foilure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.47C. Assemblies3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assemblies (\$ 14)3.65Imposing conditions:3.71Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.71So advance notice requirement3.66Conditions3.71Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.73Definition of 'public assemblies (\$ 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.81Artempts to break up public meetings3.82Police powers to attend meetings3.89Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.90	•	
Advance notice provision (s 11(1))3.15Exception 1: 'commonly or customarily held' (s 11(2))3.16Exception 2: 'not reasonably practicable' (s 11(1))3.20Processions without a determined route3.21Nature and delivery of notice to the police3.22Failure to comply: prosecution3.24Conditions imposed on public processions (s 12)3.28Background3.29Imposing conditions3.31Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.37Banning processions (s 13)3.38Procedure outside London3.40Procedure outside London3.47C. Assemblies3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over outric assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meetings3.88Control of public meetings3.88Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.88Election meetings3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100		3.13
Exception 2: 'not reasonably practicable' (s 11(1))3.20Processions without a determined route3.21Nature and delivery of notice to the police3.22Failure to comply: prosecution3.24Conditions imposed on public processions (s 12)3.28Background3.29Imposing conditions3.31Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.37Banning processions (s 13)3.38Procedure outside London3.40Procedure in London3.42Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.47C. Assemblies3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meetings3.88Conditions3.76Definition of public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Attempts to break up public meetings3.88Police powers to attend meetings3.89Police powers to attend meetings3.99E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100		3.15
Processions without a determined route3.21Nature and delivery of notice to the police3.22Failure to comply: prosecution3.24Conditions imposed on public processions (s 12)3.28Background3.29Imposing conditions3.31Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.37Banning processions (s 13)3.38Procedure outside London3.40Procedure outside London3.42Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.46Judicial review3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.99E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	Exception 1: 'commonly or customarily held' (s 11(2))	3.16
Nature and delivery of notice to the police3.22Failure to comply: prosecution3.24Conditions imposed on public processions (s 12)3.28Background3.29Imposing conditions3.31Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.37Banning processions (s 13)3.38Procedure outside London3.40Procedure outside London3.42Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.47C. Assemblies3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.66No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over othic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.81Attempts to break up public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.89File powers to attend meetings3.89Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.99E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	Exception 2: 'not reasonably practicable' (s 11(1))	
Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.46Judicial review3.47C. Assemblies3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	Processions without a determined route	3.21
Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.46Judicial review3.47C. Assemblies3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	Nature and delivery of notice to the police	S 3.22
Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.46Judicial review3.47C. Assemblies3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	Failure to comply: prosecution	3.24
Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.46Judicial review3.47C. Assemblies3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	Conditions imposed on public processions (s 12)	3.28
Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.46Judicial review3.47C. Assemblies3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	Jackground	5.29
Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.46Judicial review3.47C. Assemblies3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution	3.31
Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.46Judicial review3.47C. Assemblies3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	Banning processions (s 13)	3 38
Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.46Judicial review3.47C. Assemblies3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	Procedure outside London	3.40
Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution3.46Judicial review3.47C. Assemblies3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.89Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	Procedure in London	3.42
C. Assemblies3.53Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.81Attempts to break up public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	Failure to comply with a ban: prosecution	3.46
Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	Judicial review	3.47
Background3.53Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over ouble assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.80Control of public meetings3.84Attempts to break up public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	C. Assemblies	3.53
Definition of 'public assembly'3.56No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meeting3.80Control of public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100		
No advance notice requirement3.64Police controls over oublic assemblies (s 14)3.65Imposing conditions3.66Conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meeting3.80Control of public meetings3.84Attempts to break up public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100		
Imposing conditions3.66Conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meeting3.80Control of public meetings3.84Attempts to break up public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100		3.64
Conditions3.71Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meeting3.80Control of public meetings3.84Attempts to break up public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100		
Failure to comply with conditions: prosecution3.73No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meeting3.80Control of public meetings3.84Attempts to break up public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100		
No power to prohibit assemblies3.74D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meeting3.80Control of public meetings3.84Attempts to break up public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100		
D. Meetings3.76Definition of public meeting3.80Control of public meetings3.84Attempts to break up public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100		
Definition of public meeting3.80Control of public meetings3.84Attempts to break up public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100		
Control of public meetings3.84Attempts to break up public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100	č	
Attempts to break up public meetings3.87Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100		
Police powers to attend meetings3.88Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100		
Election meetings3.90E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100		
E. Parliament Square3.94Background3.95The legislation3.100		
Background3.95The legislation3.100	-	
The legislation 3.100		
e	-	
	I he legislation Designated area	3.100
Written notice 3.103	•	

Detailed	Contents
----------	----------

	Authorization	3.107
	Offences	3.112
	Human rights compliance The Brian Haw litigation	3.117 3.122
	The future	3.122
F.		3.130
г.	Other Specific Areas Trafalgar Square and Parliament Square Garden	3.130
	Royal Parks (including Hyde Park) and other Open Spaces	3.135
G.	Other Offences Specific to Location	3.137
	Nuclear bases	3.137
	NHS facilities	3.138
	At a person's home	3.142
	Police directions to stop the harassment of a person in his home	/ -
	(Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001, s 42)	3.143
	Offence of harassment of a person in his home (Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001, s 42A)	3.148
Н.	By-laws	3.152
	Criminal proceedings Private law	3.156 3.161
	Private law	5.101
4. Use	Justice and Police Act 2001, s 42A) By-laws Criminal proceedings Private law e of the Highway Use of the Highway Use of the Highway	
А.	Introduction	4.01
B.	Definition of the Highway	4.03
C.	Use of the Highway	4.05
D.	Obstruction of the Highway	4.19
	Essential elements of the offence	4.20
	Obstruction	4.23
	Wilfulness	4.29
	Without lawful authority or excuse (reasonableness)	4.33 4.38
	Reasonableness and human rights Power to cross offender to remove obstruction	4.38
Б		
E.	Picketing Disketing in the employment law context	4.51 4.53
	Picketing in the employment law context Picketing and breach of the peace	4.55
	Consumer picketing	4.68
E	Police Road Blocks	4.72
	At common law	4.73
	Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984	4.77
	Terrorism Act 2000	4.80
	Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994	4.92
G.	By-laws	4.94
H.	Street-based Prostitution	4.103
	Loitering or soliciting	4.108
	Jurisdiction and penalty	4.109

	Essential elements	4.110
	Common prostitute	4.111
	Loiter or solicit	4.115
	Street or public place	4.119
	For the purpose of prostitution	4.124
	Kerb crawling	4.125
	Jurisdiction and penalty	4.126
	Who can commit the offence?	4.127
	Essential elements	4.128
	Solicits	4.129
	Persistently	4.131
	Likely to cause annoyance or nuisance	4.132
	Street or public place	4.132
	From or in the immediate vicinity of a motor vehicle	4.138
		4.141
	For the purpose of prostitution	4.141
	Persistent soliciting	4.142
	Jurisdiction and penalty Who can commit the offence?	4.143
	Essential elements	4.144
		4.14)
5.	Persistent soliciting Jurisdiction and penalty Who can commit the offence? Essential elements Trespass to Land A. Introduction B. Civil Law of Trespass to Land The scope of the tort of trespass to land Defences to tort of trespass Necessity Human rights Who can sue for trespass? Remedies against trespassers Orders for possession	
	A. Introduction	5.01
	B. Civil Law of Trespass to Land	5.06
	The scope of the tort of trespass to land	5.06
	Defences to tort of trespass	5.11
	Necessity	5.11
	Human rights	5.13
	Who can sue for trespass?	5.16
	Remedies against trespassers	5.18
	Orders for possession	5.18
	Interim possession craves	5.23
	Injunctions	5.30
	Self-help or abacement	5.34 5.38
	The role of the police in ejecting trespassers	
	Damages	5.40
	C. Criminal Law	5.41
	Development of the criminal law of trespass	5.41
	Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994, Part V	5.47
	Aggravated trespass	5.47
	Trespass on land	5.55
	Act additional to mere act of trespass	5.57
	Intention to intimidate, obstruct, or disrupt	5.58
	Lawful activity	5.59
	Defences	5.63
	Powers to remove persons committing or participating in aggravated trespass	5.66
	Powers to remove trespassers present on land for purpose of residing there	5.74
	Directions to leave the land	5.74

Definitions	5.78
Offence of failing to leave or re-entering after direction	5.84
Defences	5.86
Human rights considerations	5.87
Power to seize and remove vehicles	5.90
Powers to remove trespassers with caravans	5.91
Definitions	5.93
Offence of failing to leave or re-entering after a direction	5.95
Defence	5.96
Powers to seize and remove vehicles	5.97
Powers to remove those preparing for or attending raves	5.98
Directions to leave the land	5.98
Definitions	5.99
Definitions	5.102
First rave offence: failing to leave or re-entering after direction (s 63(6))	5.104
Statutory defences	5.105
Second rave offence: preparing for/attending a rave within twenty-four hours	
of direction (s 63(7A))	5.107
Third rave offence: proceeding to a rave contrary to direction (\$ 65)	5.108
Powers to seize and remove vehicles and sound equipment	5.109
Forfeiture of sound equipment	5.110
Unauthorized campers: powers of removal	5.113
Directions to leave: residing in a vehicle 🔨	5.114
Statutory defence	5.119
Application to the magistrates' court: Criminal Justice and	
Public Order Act 1994, s 78	5.120
Guidance on use of powers under ss 77 and 78	5.125
Public Order Act 1986, ss 14A-C	5.126
Trespassory assemblies	5.126
The circumstances in which a ban may be imposed	5.129
•	
Serious and Organised Crime and Police Act 2005, s 128	5.140
Trespass on a proceed site	5.140
Other offences involving trespass	5.149
By-laws	5.149
Being in a prohibited place for a purpose prejudicial to the	
safety or interests of the State	5.152
Offences under the Vagrancy Act 1824	5.155
Failure to leave an exclusion zone	5.158
Violence for securing entry	5.159
Trespass during currency of interim possession order	5.160
Adverse occupation of residential premises	5.161
Trespassing with a weapon of offence	5.165
Trespassing on premises of foreign missions, etc	5.167
Obstruction of enforcement officers or court officers executing	
High Court or county court process	5.170
Trespassing on licensed aerodromes	5.176

Trespassing on a railway Poaching Burglary Trespass with intent to commit a sexual offence	5.177 5.178 5.179 5.181
6. Police Powers Before Arrest	
A. The Nature of Policing	6.01
Information gathering	6.01
Responding to protest	6.06
Police community support officers and accredited persons	6.08
Private security companies	6.16
B. Contact with the Police Short of Arrest	6.18
C. Establishing Identity	6.26
Name, address, date of birth, and personal details	6.27
Disguises	6.33
An inspector's 'authorization'	6.34
A constable's power	6.40
The power and the European Convention on Human Rights	6.42
A constable's power The power and the European Convention on Human Rights Fingerprints Photographs and filming	6.43 6.44
Photographs and filming Photographs: following exercise of other police powers	6.44
Photographs: overt surveillance	6.45
D. Control of Movement	6.55
Directions to leave and alcohol-related disorder	6.57
Dispersal of groups and anti-social behaviour	6.60
A superintendent's 'authorization'	6.60
A constable's 'direction'	6.64
'Removal' of children to their home	6.67
Police cordons	6.69
E. Stop and Search: Befere Arrest	6.72
Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984, s 1	6.73
Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994, s 60	6.82
An inspector's 'authorization'	6.82
A constable's powers	6.85
Terrorism Act 2000, s 44	6.87
The commander or assistant chief constable's 'authorization'	6.90
The constable's power	6.97
Code A and the conduct of the search	6.102
Searches and the European Convention on Human Rights	6.112
Road traffic stops	6.118 6.118
Stop and seizure of vehicles Road checks	6.118
A superintendent's 'authorization'	6.120
The constable's power	6.120
Road stops	6.122

E. Brea	ch of the Peace	6.125
	breach of the peace?	6.129
	efinition	6.129
Br	each of the peace and the criminal law	6.139
	y take action?	6.141
-	ay action be taken?	6.142
	ion may be taken?	6.153
Ar	rest	6.156
Liı	nits on pickets	6.160
Ро	lice powers and private property	6.161
Th	e application of human rights principles	6.162
Against v	whom may action be taken?	6.168
G. The	Use of Force by the Police	6.174
Sources of	f power to use force	6.175
What is '	reasonable' force?	6.181
	ppean Convention	6.184
Equipme	nt	6.195
Policing	protests	6.201
H. Con	clusion	6.205
7. Arrest, I	ppean Convention nt protests clusion Detention, and Bail st n arrest? re's power of arrest	
A. Arres	st st	7.01
What is a	n arrest?	7.01
	ze's power of arrest	7.02
	e arresting officer's own suspicion: Castorina 1	7.07
	asonable grounds for the officer's suspicion: <i>Castorina 2</i>	7.08
	e discretion to arrest: Castorina 3	7.18
,	The reasons for arrest's 24(5)	7.19
	The 'necessity' test, s 24(4)	7.22
,	Wednesbury and Wednesbury Plus	7.27
The citiz	en's power of alrest	7.33
Informat	ion to be given on arrest	7.38
Search of	a person after arrest	7.45
Entry and	d search of property on arrest	7.49
After arre	st: street bail or police station	7.54
The impl	ications of failing to make a lawful arrest	7.60
B. Dete	ntion at the Police Station	7.65
	of the custody officer	7.66
	g personal information	7.72
A detaine	•	7.78
	onsultation of the Codes	7.78
	gal advice	7.79
	e right to have someone informed when arrested	7.83
Special g		7.85
Conditio	ns during detention	7.89

Detailed Contents

Police detention and charge	7.94
The decision to detain	7.95
Further investigations	7.99
Is there sufficient evidence to charge?	7.103
The decision to charge	7.105
C. Bail Conditions and Remands in Custody After Charge	7.109
Introduction	7.109
The European Convention	7.112
PACE and the Bail Act	7.121
Granting bail (with or without conditions)	7.122
Bail conditions from the police station (Bail Act 1976, s 3A)	7.122
Bail conditions from the court (Bail Act 1976, s 3)	7.126
Implications of breaching bail	7.131
Breach of street bail	7.131
Breach of bail from the police station to return to the police station	7.132
Breach of bail to attend court (Bail Act, s 7)	7.134
Impact on sentencing of commission of offence while on bail	7.139
Refusing bail	7.140
The police's power to refuse bail	7.141
The courts' power to refuse bail	7.144
The courts' approach	7.144
Defendants charged with non-imprisonable offences (Part II of Schedule 1)	7.148
Defendants charged with imprisonable summary offences	
(Part IA of Schedule 1)	7.150
Defendants charged with imprisonable non-summary offences	
(Part I of Schedule 1)	7.152
Reviews and challenges to bail decisions 🔨 💎	7.155
Records of decisions	7.155
Varying bail conditions following street bail	7.157
Defence applications to vary bail conditions from the police station	7.159
Prosecution applications for reconsideration of bail decision	
by the police or magistrates	7.160
Applications to very bail conditions after first court hearing	7.161
Appeals against bail conditions, from a magistrates' court to the Crown Court	7.162
Renewed applications for bail to the same court	7.163
Appeals against refusals of bail by a magistrates' court to the Crown Court	7.164
Appeals to the High Court	7.165

8. Defences of Excuse and Justification

A. Introduction		8.01
B.	General Principles	8.03
	Reasonableness	8.05
	General	8.05
S	Subjective belief in the circumstances	8.11
	Relevance of the actual circumstances	8.15
	Burden of proof	8.24

C. The Prevention of Crime	8.33
The use of 'force'	8.36
'The prevention of crime'	8.56
'Such force as is reasonable in the circumstances'	8.64
The Criminal Justice and Immigration Act 2008	8.64
Subjective belief	8.66
The role of the democratic process: Lord Hoffmann	8.71
Remoteness	8.86
D. The Directorian of Directority	0 00
D. The Protection of Property	8.89
The common law	8.89
Lawful excuse: Criminal Damage Act 1971, s 5	8.91
The meaning of property	8.95
The meaning of 'damage'	8.99
Belief in consent	8.103
Subjective belief	8.106
Remoteness: 'in order to protect' and 'immediate need'	8.110
E. Necessity/Duress of Circumstances A single defence? Duress of circumstances: definition Persons for whom the defendant has responsibility	8.124
A single defence?	8.124
Duress of circumstances: definition	8.136
Persons for whom the defendant has responsibility <	8.140
Compulsion	8.147
Mixed test: subjective but reasonable belief	8.148
Subjective belief	8.148
Reasonable belief	8.152
Death or serious injury	8.158
F. Acting in the Public Interest	8.161
9. Punishment, Appeals, and Restrictive Orders	
A. Sentencing Principles in Protest Cases	9.01
Conditional discharge: <i>R v Jones (Margaret)</i>	9.03
Fines	9.13
Community penalty	9.14
Mitigation	9.19
B. Binding Over	9.20
Binding over to keep the peace	9.20
Introduction	9.20
Preventative justice	9.23
Bind over: how it works	9.24
To be of good behaviour?	9.26
Procedural requirements	9.31
Refusal to be bound over	9.38
Failure to comply and forfeiture	9.40
Binding over to come up for judgment	9.42
C. Alternatives to Conviction	9.47
Cautions	9.47
Simple cautions	9.49
pie enaciono	2.12

	Criteria for a simple caution	9.51
	Adminstering the caution	9.56
	Consequences of a caution	9.57
	Conditional cautions	9.59
	Offences that may be conditionally cautioned	9.61
	Statutory criteria for a conditional caution	9.63
	Conditions	9.65
	Effect of a conditional caution	9.68
	Failure to comply with conditions	9.69
	Juveniles: warnings and reprimands	9.70
	Fixed penalty notices	9.73
	Penalty offences	9.74
	Giving the notice	9.75
	Penalty notices	9.77
	Effect of the penalty notice	9.80
D.	Appeals	9.82
	General	9.82
	Appeals from the magistrates' court to the Crown Court	9.83
	Appeals against conviction	9.83
	Appeals against sentence	9.90
	Appeals against binding over	9.94
	Appeals by way of case stated: from the magistrates' court and	<i>)</i> , <i>)</i> 1
	Crown Court to the Divisional Court	9.95
	The magistrates' court	9.95
	The Crown Court	9.103
	Judicial review	9.105
	General	9.105
	The Crown Court: trial on indistment	9.110
	The Clown Court, that on Indefinient The magistrates' court and Crown Court appeals	9.113
	Procedure	9.115
	Appeals from the Crown Court to the Court of Appeal	9.117 9.117
	Interlocutory appeals	9.117
	Appeals against conviction	
	Appeals against sentence by the defendant	9.130
	Appeals against sentence by the prosecution	9.134
	Attorney General's Reference on a point of law following acquittal	9.138
	Prosecution appeals against rulings	9.140
	Prosecution applications for retrials for serious offences	9.149
	Referrals by the Criminal Cases Review Commission	9.153
	Appeals from the Court of Appeal and Divisional Court to the	
	Supreme Court	9.157
	Petitions to the European Court of Human Rights	9.159
E.	Injunctions	9.166
	Injunctions in Protest Cases	9.170
F.	Anti-social Behaviour Orders (ASBOs)	9.178
G.	Football Banning Orders	9.183

10. Human Rights

A.	Introduction	10.01
B.	Articles 10 and 11	10.13
	Introduction to Articles 10 and 11	10.15
	Assembly for the purpose of imparting information and ideas	10.22
	Positive and negative obligations	10.28
	Direct and indirect obstacles to freedom of assembly	10.28
	Securing effective enjoyment of the rights to freedom	
	of expression and assembly	10.31
	Duty to protect against counter-demonstrators	10.34
	Obligations on the state; no excessive burdens on demonstrators	10.36
	Demonstrators vs counter-demonstrators: the balance to be struck	10.37
	The scope of Articles 10 and 11	10.39
	Activity which shocks, offends, or disturbs	10.39
	The application of Articles 10 and 11 in English cases: is protection	
	from insult a 'legitimate aim'?	10.41
	Disruptive activity (including disruption to traffic)	10.56
	Violent activity	10.67
	Illegality	10.71
	Private property	10.72
	Limitations on the right to protest	10.77
	'Prescribed by law': the requirement of legality	10.78
	Disruptive activity (including disruption to traffic) Violent activity Illegality Private property Limitations on the right to protest 'Prescribed by law': the requirement of legality Accessible Not arbitrary, not uncertain Legitimate aims Necessary in a democratic society	10.81
	Not arbitrary, not uncertain	10.82
	Legitimate aims	10.98
	Necessary in a democratic society	10.101
	Prior authorization	10.111
C.	Article 9: Freedom of Thought, Conscience, and Religion	10.122
	Manifesting a belief	10.126
	Article 9: and Articles 10 and 11	10.131
	Preacher cases	10.139
D.	Article 8: Right to Respect for Private and Family Life	10.144
E.	Article 5: Right to Liberty and Security	10.150
1.	'Kettling': deprivation of liberty vs restriction of movement	10.158
Б		10.162
F.	Article 6: Right to a Fair Trial	
	Statutory defences and reverse burdens of proof	10.163
	Legal assistance Disclosure	10.167 10.174
C		
	Article 2: Right to Life	10.180
Н.	Article 3: Prohibition of Torture	10.184

449

1

THE PUBLIC ORDER ACT 1986: OFFENCES

A. Introduction	1.01	E. Fear or Provocation of Violence:	
B. Riot: Public Order Act 1986, s 1	1.05	Public Order Act 1986, s 4	1.128
Historical development	1.05	Historical development	1.128
The definition of riot under the		Definition under the Public	
Public Order Act 1986, s 1	1.15	Order Act 1986, s 4	1.133
Jurisdiction	1.16	Jurisdiction	1.135
Essential elements of the offence	1.19	Essential elements of the offence	1.136
Compensation for Riot Damage	1.53	F. Harassment, Alarm, or Distress: s 5	1.171
C. Violent Disorder:		Historical development	1.171
Public Order Act 1986, s 2	1.56	Definițion under the Public	
Historical development	1.56	Order Act 1986, s 5	1.174
The definition of violent disorder		Julisdiction	1.177
under the Public Order Act		Essential elements of the offence	1.178
1986, s 2	1.59	C. Intentional Harassment,	
Jurisdiction	1.62	Alarm, or Distress:	
Essential elements of the offence	1.65	Public Order Act 1986, s 4A	1.206
D. Affray: Public Order Act 1986, s 3	1.89	Historical development	1.206
Historical development	1.89	Definition under the Public	
The definition of affray under the		Order Act 1986, s 4A	1.207
Public Order Act 1986, s 3	1.93	Jurisdiction	1.208
Jurisdiction	1.95	Proportionality	1.209
Essential elements of the offence	1.96	Essential elements of the offence	1.210

A. Introduction

This chapter examines the main criminal offences under the Public Order Act 1986—those **1.01** of riot (s 1), violent disorder (s 2), affray (s 3), causing fear or provocation of violence (s 4), and causing harassment, alarm, or distress (s 5). It will look at the origins of the Act, the essential elements of the offences, defences and sentencing. It will also look at aspects of the Act's compatibility with the European Convention on Human Rights.¹

¹ European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (1953) (Cmd 8969) as scheduled by the Human Rights Act 1998, Sch 1.

- **1.02** The Public Order Act 1986 abolished the common law offences of riot, rout, unlawful assembly, and affray (s 9(1)). It also replaced offences under the Public Order Act 1936 (s 9(2)). The 1986 Act was passed amid the tumult of industrial unrest and social discord in the inner cities which characterized the early 1980s. It was an attempt to clarify and rationalize, but not to codify, the law of public order.
- **1.03** Today, the Act is widely used, not only for the large-scale disorder which existed at the time of its inception, but also to deal with the low-level disorder and 'anti-social' behaviour which is the target of a range of recent government initiatives. In 2008/2009, there were over 37,700 reported public order offences, of which only three were riot and 1,020 violent disorder.²
- 1.04 Two important concepts are important to grasp at the outset. Firstly, although the 1986 Act deals with episodes of violence, it focuses less upon individual victims of violence (for whom the Offences Against the Person Act 1861 deals with various offences of assault), and more upon the wider public who may be caused to fear for their own personal safety by scenes of disorder. Hence, the 'victim' of the offences under the Act is not the person who is assaulted, but the hypothetical 'person of reasonable firmness present at the scene'. Secondly, although the Act is concerned with 'public' order, many of the offences can be committed in private.

B. Riot: Public Orde: Act 1986, s 1

Historical development

- **1.05** Historically, serious riots such as the Sacheverell Riots of 1710 (which led directly to the passing of the Riot Act 1714), were prosecuted as high treason and met with the death penalty. The Chartists led by John Frost at the Newport Rising of 1839 were convicted of high treason and sentenced to be hanged, drawn, and quartered. Ultimately the Prime Minister, Lord Melbourne, commuted their sentences to transportation to Tasmania.
- **1.06** At common law the offence of riot (or riotous assembly) was defined by Hawk PC, bk 1, ch 65, s 1, as

a tumultuous disturbance of the peace, by three persons, or more, assembling together of their own authority, with an intent mutually to assist one another, against any who shall oppose them, in the execution of some enterprise of a private nature, and afterwards actually executing the same in a violent and turbulent manner, to the terror of the people, whether the act intended were of itself lawful or unlawful.

- 1.07 Thus, in the common law we can see the origins of the modern offence. At common law, there were five essential elements of riot
 - (a) the presence and participation of at least three persons;

² Walker et al, *Home Office Statistical Bulletin: Crime in England and Wales 2008/09* (July 2009). Curiously, however, aside from riot and violent disorder, the vast majority of those recorded offences are described by the Home Office as 'Other offences against the State and public order'.

- (b) a common purpose, whether lawful or unlawful;
- (c) the execution or inception of the common purpose;
- (d) an intent to help one another by force if necessary against any opposition to the execution of the common purpose; and
- (e) the use or threat of force in executing the common purpose which is such as to terrify at least one person of reasonable firmness.

The penalty at common law was life imprisonment.

1.08

The Law Commission Report, *Offences Relating to Public Order*,³ recommended a number **1.09** of changes to the common law. Firstly, the Law Commission proposed a new offence of violent disorder as a middle ground between riot and affray. Violent disorder, as we will see later in this chapter, was designed to replace the common law offence of unlawful assembly and deal with incidents involving at least three people. The Law Commission queried whether, given that the new offence of violent disorder penalized acts of group violence with a maximum sentence of five years' imprisonment, the law of public order could effectively operate without any offence of riot.⁴ Their answer was 'no', citing the case of *Caird*,⁵ that riot is an offence 'which derives its great gravity from the simple fact that the persons concerned were acting in numbers and using those numbers to achieve their purpose'.

1.10 Therefore, secondly, the Law Commission proposed a substantial increase in the number of participants required in order to form a riot, from these to twelve. The Commission conceded that any number is to some extent arbitrary. However, twelve has some historical basis, since under the Riot Act 1714 (repealed in 1967), if twelve persons were still assembled one hour after the order for dispersal ('the reading of the Riot Act'), they were guilty of a felony.

Thirdly, to reflect the extreme gravity of the offence, marked by the substantial increase in **1.11** the number of participants and the contrast with violent disorder, the maximum penalty for riot would remain significantly higher than for other public order offences, at ten years' imprisonment (though no longer life imprisonment, as under the common law). Treason and Tasmania were no longer an option.

Fourthly, the Law Commission recommended that the element of 'common purpose' be **1.12** retained but attempted to clarify it.

It will be noted that, fifthly, the mental element of the offence also changed, see below. **1.13**

With that brief, historical context in mind, we now turn to the modern offence of riot **1.14** under the Public Order Act 1986.

³ Law Com 123, 24 October 1983, Cmnd 9510.

⁴ Ibid, p 9, para 2.10.

⁵ (1970) 54 Cr App R 499, 505.

The definition of riot under the Public Order Act 1986, s 1

- **1.15** Riot is the most serious offence under the 1986 Act. The elements of the offence are defined in s 1 as follows:
 - (1) Where 12 or more persons who are present together use or threaten unlawful violence for a common purpose and the conduct of them (taken together) is such as would cause a person of reasonable firmness present at the scene to fear for his personal safety, each of the persons using unlawful violence for the common purpose is guilty of riot.
 - (2) It is immaterial whether or not the 12 or more use or threaten unlawful violence simultaneously.
 - (3) The common purpose may be inferred from conduct.
 - (4) No person of reasonable firmness need actually be, or be likely to be, present at the scene.
 - (5) Riot may be committed in private as well as in public places.
 - (6) A person guilty of riot is liable on conviction on indictment to imprisonment for a term not exceeding ten years or a fine or both.

Jurisdiction

- **1.16** The offence of riot is triable only on indictment (s 1(6)), which means that it may only be tried in the Crown Court by judge and jury.
- 1.17 The offence of riot is reserved for exceptionally grave cases, as reflected by its maximum sentence of ten years and the fact that the consent of the Director of Public Prosecutions (DPP) is necessary before a prosecution can be instituted.⁶
- **1.18** The Crown Prosecution Service's *Charging Standards* outline the kind of disorder which might appropriately be charged as riot: the normal forces of law and order have broken down; due to the intensity of the attacks on police and other civilian authorities, normal access by emergency services is impeded by mob activity; due to the scale and ferocity of the disorder, severe disruption and fear is caused to members of the public; violence carries with it the potential for a significant impact upon a significant number of non-participants for a significant length of time; organised or spontaneous large scale acts of violence on people and/or property?

Essential elements of the offence

- **1.19** There are six essential elements of the offence of riot:
 - twelve or more persons
 - present together
 - using or threatening unlawful violence
 - for a common purpose (use of violence in furtherance thereof)
 - a person of reasonable firmness
 - mental element.

⁶ Section 7(1). No prosecution for an offence of riot or incitement to riot may be instituted except by or with the consent of the DPP.

⁷ See <http://www.cps.gov.uk/legal/p_to_r/public_order_offences/index.html#_Charging_Standard>.

Twelve or more persons

The 1986 Act significantly increased the requisite quorum for a riot from three to twelve **1.20** people. The Law Commission conceded that selecting any number was an arbitrary exercise, though twelve has some historical origin in the Riot Act 1714.⁸ It has also been noted that twelve is something of a magic number in criminal law,⁹ as it is the number required for a jury in a criminal trial. That said, in raising the number from three to twelve, the 1986 Act ensured that this offence was reserved for incidents beyond the scope of the average pub brawl.

The gravamen of riot, therefore, is the presence of large numbers. In reality, and given **1.21** that the consent of the DPP is required, the offence will only be charged where there are significantly more than twelve participants, so it will rarely be necessary to conduct a head count.¹⁰

Present together

The twelve or more persons must be present together (see s 1(1)), though it is immaterial **1.22** whether or not the twelve or more use or threaten unlawful violence *simultaneously* (s 1(2)). This suggests that their presence and activity should normally be proximate in time and place. Where separate incidents spring up over a period of time, for example over a period of days during repeated inner city tension in one broad locality, it is better practice to charge them as separate offences.¹¹

1.23 Riot, as with other public order offences, such as affrey can be a continuing offence, but it is a question of fact and degree. Thus, it was held to be a single offence (of affray) where the accused were milling about, armed, and threatening violence over a period of four hours and across a radius of a quarter of a mile.¹² However, where the ingredients of an offence cease to exist for a period of time, the offence is over. Should those ingredients come into existence again, a second offence occurs. So, where the offenders travelled by coach to a number of different sites, causing terror at each, but were peaceful during transit between sites, then there were a number of separate offences rather than one continuous offence.¹³

⁸ Riot Act 1714 (Long title: 'An act for preventing tumults and riotous assemblies, and for the more speedy and effectual punishing of the rioters'). Section 2 provided for a proclamation to be made 'in a loud voice' for a crowd to 'disperse themselves and peaceably to depart to their habitations'. This was the 'reading of the Riot Act'. Section 3 then provided 'That if such persons so unlawfully, riotously, and tumultuously assembled, or *twelve or more of them*, after proclamation made in manner aforesaid, shall continue together and not disperse themselves within one hour', then the justices of the peace, sheriffs, etc were empowered to 'seize and apprehend' such persons. Indeed the Act (as originally enacted) went so as to declare those lawmen involved in seizing and apprehending rioters, 'shall be free, discharged and indemnified, as well against the King's Majesty, his heirs and successors, as against all and every other person and persons, of, for, or concerning the killing, maiming, or hurting of any such persons or persons so unlawfully, riotously and tumultuously assembled, that shall happen to be so killed, maimed or hurt, as aforesaid'. The Riot Act 1714 was repealed by the Criminal Law Act 1967, s 10(2).

⁹ See Peter Thornton, *Public Order Law* (1987) p 9.

¹⁰ David Ormerod (ed), Smith and Hogan Criminal Law (2008, 12th edn) p 1065.

¹¹ Thornton, *Public Order Law*, p 9.

¹² Woodrow (1959) 43 Cr App R 105.

¹³ Jones (1974) 59 Cr App R 120.

1.24 Riot can be committed in a private place (s 1(5)). In contrast with offences under ss 4 and 5 of the Act, 'private place' in the context of riot is not restricted in any way, for example, by excluding dwellings. However, given the large numbers required to form a riot, it is likely that those offences charged will be in a public place—but this is not an essential element.

Using or threatening unlawful violence

1.25 'Violence' under the Public Order Act 1986 has a deliberately wider definition than offences of violence in other parts of the criminal law, such as offences against the person. Section 8 in Part I of the Act explains the interpretation of the term:

'violence' means any violent conduct, so that-

- (a) except in the context of affray [see below], it includes violent conduct towards *property* as well as violent conduct towards persons, and
- (b) it is *not restricted to conduct causing or intended to cause injury or damage* but includes any other violent conduct (for example, throwing at or towards a person a missile of a kind capable of causing injury which does not hit or falls short).
- **1.26** Firstly then, riot as a public order offence is distinguished from offences against the person in that it can be committed where the violent conduct is aimed at property. It encompasses the fear caused by scenes of disorder where missiles are thrown at police cars or shops are smashed up and ransacked. It perhaps obviates the need for separate charges of criminal damage.
- **1.27** Secondly, riot is distinguishable from offences against the person in that there is no need for the prosecution to establish that the violent conduct caused, or was even intended to cause, injury or damage. This is because the Act is concerned not with the victim of a violent assault, but with the impact of violent conduct on the hypothetical bystander—the 'person of reasonable firmness present at the scene' who would be caused to fear for their own personal safety (s 1(1)). Hence, violent conduct under s 8 of the 1986 Act also includes throwing missiles, brandishing weapons, and the punch that missed its target.
- **1.28** Equally, and for the same reason, the Act goes beyond the actual use of violence to encompass the threat of violence. The offence concerns twelve or more persons 'using or threatening' unlawful violence for a common purpose. Brandishing weapons, waving fists, and shouting threats could cause the bystander to fear for his personal safety just as much as the actual application of force.
- **1.29** However, for there to be a riot at least one of the twelve must actually use unlawful violence and only those actually using unlawful violence are guilty of the offence (s 1(1)). Thus, riot has a precondition of at least twelve persons using or threatening unlawful violence for a common purpose such as would cause a reasonable bystander to fear for his personal safety—but only those persons who actually use unlawful violence will be guilty of riot. That said, this raises interesting issues of secondary liability (see below the section on 'common purpose').

The violence must be *unlawful* violence (see s 1(1)). This preserves the general defences of **1.30** accident, self-defence,¹⁴ defence of another, and the prevention of crime.¹⁵ This was confirmed in $R \ v \ Rothwell \ and \ Barton^{16}$ and is now settled law. Thus, once a defence such as self-defence has been raised (the evidential burden), there can be no conviction unless the prosecution can disprove self-defence to the criminal standard of proof—ie so that the jury are sure it was not self-defence.

However, one can envisage problems in a case where the defendants assert that they were **1.31** acting in pre-emptive self-defence—for example where twelve or more football supporters attacked a gang of rival supporters because they feared imminent attack. Yet, as with any defence of self-defence, the use of force must be reasonable and proportionate. It would be difficult to maintain such a defence where a pre-emptive strike to ward off attack developed into a sustained pitched battle.

For a common purpose

1.32 There is no definition of common purpose in the Act, nor any clear definition elsewhere. It was the element of 'common purpose' which prompted Lord Scarman to refer to the 'great forensic confusion' which prevailed when juries had the task of deciding whether this element of the common law offence of riot had been proved.¹⁷ The 1986 Act retained the concept, but failed to provide any definition or clarification other than to say that 'common purpose may be inferred from conduct' (s 1(3)). That is statutory language for 'you know it when you see it'.

1.33 The concept of 'common purpose', together with the weight of numbers, is what distinguishes riot from violent disorder and other peblic order offences. The Law Commission rejected an earlier proposal that common purpose should be replaced by a concept of 'engaging in an unlawful course of conduct'. They said that common purpose more accurately reflected the idea of concerted action on the part of a number of people.¹⁸ The Law Commission concluded:

Persons who engage in acts of public disorder vary in the range of their conduct from those who, as we put it, in the or lead a riot to those whom we have described as casual participants. The latter include individuals who, observing that disorder is taking place, take the opportunity to add their own acts of aimless violence or disorder, without any particular purpose in mind. But the effect of omitting the element of common purpose in our Working Paper proposal was, we think, to cause the casual participant, the pure opportunist who has shared no purpose with anyone but has merely added his own act of violence to those of others, to be guilty of riot. There is, of course, no reason why an intention to achieve

¹⁴ The general defence of self-defence now has a statutory footing in the Criminal Justice and Immigration Act 2008, s 76—though this adds little or nothing to what had always been the law of self-defence.

¹⁵ See the provisions of the Criminal Law Act 1967, s 3, and the discussion on defences in Ch 8.

¹⁶ [1993] Crim LR 626—where it was held that the word 'unlawful' is intended to ensure that the general defences of self-defence, reasonable defence of a friend, or an attempt to stop a breach of the peace etc remain good defences to the statutory offences under the Public Order Act 1986. Had Parliament intended to exclude those defences, it would have done so expressly.

¹⁷ Lord Scarman, *The Brixton Disorders* (1981) Cmnd 8427, para 7.39.

¹⁸ Law Com 123, para 6.11.

a common purpose, such as an attack on the police, may not be formed upon the instant of joining in: premeditation is no more required for such an intention than for an intent to do grievous bodily harm. If, however, the particular gravity of riot as an offence were to be based simply on committing an act of violence at the same time as other people commit similar acts, then the importance of the offence would lie, not in the common purpose of the defendant shared with others, but in the cumulative damage and injury caused by the common acts. In our present view, however, it is the possession of a common purpose by a number of people which constitutes the particular danger of riot. Of course, in many instances the course of conduct of the rioters taken as a whole will be strongly indicative of what the common purpose is; but the course of conduct must essentially remain no more than evidence, usually the strongest evidence, of what the conduct is aimed to achieve. We therefore conclude that the possession of a common purpose should be an integral part of any new offences of riot.

- 1.34 Common purpose is more than mere motive. There is no requirement that the twelve or more persons have come together pursuant to any agreement, or that each should have agreed with the other eleven. It is sufficient that they assembled by chance, one by one, but at the point at which violence is offered they are present together directing the violence for a common purpose. Moreover, that common purpose may be either iawful or unlawful, so long as the violence itself is unlawful and offered for a common purpose. In *Caird*¹⁹ a group of students gathered outside a hotel in Cambridge where a Greek-themed dinner was being held for the great and good of the city in celebration of 'Greek week'. The common purpose of the students was to disrupt the dinner in protest of the policies of the then military, authoritarian Greek government. In order to gain entry to the hotel and wreck the dinner, they engaged in violence with the police and guests and damaged hotel property. The common purpose (to disrupt the dinner) was la vful. The violence used in pursuit of that common purpose was unlawful.
- **1.35** The definition of riot poses an interesting question of secondary liability. According to s 1(1) where twelve or more people with a common purpose threaten unlawful violence but only one actually uses it, there is a riot but only one principal rioter. The section states that only the person *using* in lawful violence is guilty of riot. However, since the remaining eleven or more are present together with a common purpose to threaten unlawful violence, they *may* be regarded as encouraging the principal. Thus they would be guilty as secondary parties.²⁰ Professor Ormerod asks us to suppose that all twelve had agreed—'Threats, yes, but actual violence, no.' If D, for the common purpose, then uses violence, D commits riot but the rest are not necessarily guilty of riot by their mere use of threats (unless they encouraged D). And if D goes beyond the scope of the concerted action and produces a weapon the rest did not know about, they will certainly not be guilty of riot.²¹

¹⁹ R v Caird and others (1970) 54 Cr App R 499.

²⁰ Jefferson [1994] 1 All ER 270 and see generally Ormerod (ed), Smith and Hogan Criminal Law. See also Rahman [2008] UKHL 45 on joint enterprise.

²¹ Ormerod (ed), Smith and Hogan Criminal Law, p 1065.

A person of reasonable firmness present at the scene

The element of 'a person of reasonable firmness present at the scene' is common to the **1.36** offences of riot, violent disorder, and affray. It is an important concept to understand. It is discussed fully in the section dealing with affray.²²

Mental element (mens rea)

A person is guilty of riot only if he *intends to use violence* or *is aware that his conduct may be* **1.37** *violent* (Public Order Act 1986, s 6(1)).

'Awareness' applies to riot, violent disorder, and affray but is a word rarely used elsewhere **1.38** in the criminal law. The Act (on the recommendation of the Law Commission) sought to avoid the ambiguity and confusion caused by the term 'recklessness'. In effect, 'awareness' means a kind of recklessness. The defendant must foresee the risk that a particular kind of harm may be done or violence may occur and yet goes on and takes that risk. For example, he throws a bottle into a crowd of police officers not caring whether the missile fell short or not, but knowing there was some risk of harm.

The difference is that, unlike recklessness, there is no objective element. Awareness does **1.39** not cover the situation in which it would be obvious to the reasonable man that there was a risk, but the defendant had not turned his mind to it. Awareness is a purely subjective concept. In reality, however, in the context of public order offences such as riot, this subtlety will rarely be of practical importance.

An additional mental element is that the person must also share a 'common purpose' with **1.40** the other eleven or more participants. This additional element is one for which proof is required in respect not merely of the defendant but of the other eleven persons.²³ Again, this can be inferred from conduct.

A direction as to the mental element of the offence should normally be given to the jury, **1.41** and care must be taken to distinguish between principal offenders and aiders and abettors in that direction.²⁴

Intoxicated rioters

The Act makes special provision for the possibility of a plea of intoxication. Section 6(5) **1.42** and (6) provide as follows:

- (5) For the purposes of this section a person whose awareness is impaired by intoxication shall be taken to be aware of that of which he would be aware if not intoxicated, unless he shows either that his intoxication was not self-induced or that it was caused solely by the taking or administration of a substance in the course of medical treatment.
- (6) In subsection (5) 'intoxication' means any intoxication, whether caused by drink, drugs or other means, or by a combination of means.

Thus, as with other offences where the required mental element is recklessness, 'selfinduced' intoxication provides no defence. He will be treated as unimpaired, as aware

²² See 1.108 et seq.

²³ See Public Order Act 1986, s 6(7) and also Law Com 123, para 6.28.

²⁴ Blackwood [2002] EWCA Crim 3102.

of that which he would have been aware of had he not been intoxicated.²⁵ Therefore, care should be taken in drafting the indictment, for if it alleges only that the defendant intended to use violence (rather than merely being aware that his conduct may be violent), this would be alleging a crime of specific intent to which a plea of self-induced intoxication may apply.

1.44 However, there is a curiosity here. In riot, unlike violent disorder and affray, there is an additional mental element of sharing a 'common purpose' with eleven or more others. That must be akin to specific intent—one cannot form a common purpose with others recklessly. Indeed, the Law Commission envisaged such a possibility:

The element of common purpose in the proposed offence of riot, amounts in substance to a further mental element of intent. We would therefore expect that, if there was sufficient evidence to indicate that a defendant accused of riot was too intoxicated to have the common purpose, he could not be found guilty of riot. Nevertheless, if his intoxication was self-induced, he could be convicted as an alternative of violent disorder.²⁶

1.45 There remains a defence of 'involuntary intoxication'—that is the rieter who had his drink 'spiked' or his intoxication was a side effect of prescription medication. Section 6(5) of the Act purports to place a reverse burden on the defendant—'shali be taken to be aware of that of which he would be aware if not intoxicated, *unless he shrues*... that his intoxication was not self-induced'. However, since the advent of the Human Rights Act 1998, the courts have begun to 'read down' such reverse burdens,²⁷ where they apply to an essential element of the offence, such as *mens rea*. Accordingly, it is likely that the burden on the defendant is only to raise the issue (an evidential burden) rainer than proving it to the balance of probabilities (a legal burden).²⁸

Sentencing

- **1.46** Riot is indictable only and punishable with a maximum of ten years' imprisonment, or an unlimited fine, or both: s 1(6) Public Order Act 1986.
- 1.47 Riot is a serious specified offence (Criminal Justice Act 2003, s 225(1)(a) and Schedule 15). As a result, the 'dange to is offenders' provisions of the Criminal Justice Act 2003 apply, as amended on 14 July 2008 by the Criminal and Immigration Act 2008. In short, it is open to the court to pass a sentence of imprisonment for public protection or an extended sentence.²⁹

²⁵ The general principle is defined in *DPP v Majewski*; *R v Majewski* [1977] AC 443.

²⁶ Law Com 123, para 6.28.

²⁷ Human Rights Act 1998, s 3.

²⁸ For the general principles of reverse burdens post-Human Rights Act 1998, see *Sheldrake v DPP* [2004] UKHL 43.

²⁹ A full examination of the complex provisions relating to dangerous offenders is beyond the scope of this work. A useful introductory guide is provided on the website of the Sentencing Guidelines Council: <http://www.sentencing-guidelines.gov.uk/docs/Dangerous%20Offenders%20-%20Guide%20for%20 Sentencers%20and%20Practitioners.pdf>.

General guidance on the gravity of public order offences, including riot, is to be found in **1.48** *Caird*³⁰ in which Sachs LJ said:

Where there is wanton and vicious violence of gross degree the court is not concerned with whether it originates from gang rivalry or from political motives. It is the degree of mob violence that matters and the extent to which the public peace is being broken...

In the view of this court, it is a wholly wrong approach to take the acts of any individual participator in isolation. They were not committed in isolation and, as already indicated, it is that very fact that constitutes the gravity of the offence.³¹

1.49 The guideline sentencing authority for cases of riot is *R v Najeeb and others*.³² That case arose out of race riots in Bradford in 2001. A few weeks before there had been similar disturbances in Oldham and Burnley. In Bradford, the leader of the British National Party made a speech which caused such concern in the community that a World Inner City Festival scheduled to take place in the city had to be cancelled. Following the speech, supporters of the Anti-Nazi League gathered in the city square to confront a planned assembly of the National Front Party. The Asian community were concerned about the need to defend themselves against attack from right-wing extremists. Scuffles broke out and then developed into serious disorder between vast numbers of Asian and white groups. An Asian man was stabbed, which then sparked further widespread disorder throughout the city over a prolonged period. The police were the target of the violence. Parricades were built using stolen cars set alight. The police were attacked with missiles from stones to petrol bombs and from metal poles to a crossbow. Public houses, garages, and shops were looted and gutted by fire. In the result, two police officers were stabbed and over 300 officers were injured whilst the city sustained criminal damage estimated at £27 million.

Over a hundred defendants either pleaded guilty or were found guilty of riot and received **1.50** sentences ranging from four to six and a half years' imprisonment. Juvenile defendants received between six and eighteen months' detention. One defendant convicted of throwing petrol bombs was sentenced to eight and a half years' imprisonment.

Giving guidance as to sentence in *Najeeb and others*, Lord Justice Rose outlined certain fac- **1.51** tors to be considered. Those included

- whether the riot was premeditated and planned or spontaneous;
- the local conditions involved;
- the numbers of people involved;
- the duration of the disorder;
- whether the police (or other public servants) were targeted;
- the extent of injuries sustained; and
- the extent and value of damage caused.

³⁰ (1970) 54 Cr App R 499. But see also *Pilgrim* (1983) 5 Cr App R (S) 140 and *Muranyi* (1986) 8 Cr App R (S) 176.

³¹ Caird, 506–8.

³² [2003] 2 Cr App R (S) 69.

1.52 The Court of Appeal in *Najeeb and others* held that deterrent sentences were called for in such cases and the offender's previous good character and personal mitigation were of comparatively little weight. The Court then provided the following guideline sentences following conviction after a trial:

Circumstances	Guideline sentence
1. Ringleader	Sentence near maximum of 10 years after trial
2. Active and persistent participant (threw petrol bomb, used weapon, drove at police)	8–9 years after trial
3. Participation over lengthy period (threw missiles such as knives/poles/gas cylinders) or set fire to cars	6–7 years after trial
4. Present for a significant period and repeated throwing of missiles (bricks/stones)	5 years after trial

Compensation for Riot damage

- 1.53 The Riot (Damages) Act (RDA) 1886 provides for compensation to be paid out of the 'local police fund' for damage or loss relating to houses, shops, or buildings, or their contents, provided the damage was done by 'persons riotously and tumultuously assembled together'. Section 10(1) of the Public Order Act 1986 confirms that the term 'riotously' in the 1886 Act is to be construed in accordance with the definition of riot in s 1 of the 1986 Act.
- **1.54** The fact that compensation claims are paid out of the local police authority fund is clearly a source of concern to the police. In July 2003, the Home Office published a consultation paper³³ assessing the options of repealing or amending that legislation. The consultation paper stated that the nature of policing has changed in the 120 years since the Act and that most criminal damage to property is nowadays covered by insurance. It argued that it was unreasonable for the police to be burdened with liability for riot damage and the 1886 Act undermined public confidence in the police because its provisions implicitly assumed that riots are the product of a culpable failure to provide adequate policing.
- 1.55 Nevertheless, the Riot (Damages) Act 1886 remains on the statute books and continues to cause consternation to police authorities and their insurers. For a discussion of those issues (which are beyond the scope of this book) see the litigation which ensued as a result of rioting at the Yarl's Wood Detention Centre in February 2002.³⁴

³³ Home Office Consultation Paper, *Riot (Damages) Act 1886: Consultation on Options for Review* (July 2003).

³⁴ Bedfordshire Police Authority v Constable [2009] EWCA Civ 64; Yarl's Wood Immigration Ltd; GSL UK Ltd; Creechurch Dedicated Ltd v Bedfordshire Police Authority [2008] EWHC 2207 (Comm); Bedfordshire Police Authority v David Constable [2008] EWHC 1375 (Comm). Amongst the issues raised was whether the private company with public law powers to run an immigration detention centre could make a compensation claim under the RDA 1886 against a police authority. The High Court held that it did not qualify under the RDA 1886 and could not make a claim. Furthermore, the Court of Appeal held that a police authority was entitled to be indemnified by its excess insurers in respect of claims made under that Act.